
April’s Board meeting will be held on Wednesday, April 19th at 9:00am  
at the Resort Tax office (11 Lone Peak Drive, Suite #204) and through Zoom. 

Join this meeting here: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89875816378 

I. Open Meeting

A. Roll Call — 9:00 

B. Public Comment

C. Consent Agenda: Action — 9:05 

a. Approval of Minutes: March 8th, 2023

D. Regular Agenda

1. Old Business

a. Committee Reports: Action — 9:10 

Application Revision 

Elevate Big Sky  

County Commission  

Incorporation Exploration  

Strategic Investments 

2. New Business

a. FY24 Application Update: Discussion — 9:30 

b. Draft Operating Budget: Discussion — 9:40 

c. 2023 Business Registration Data: Discussion — 9:50 

d. Canyon Pipeline Feasibility Request: Action — 9:55 

e. Collective Retreats Letter of Recognition Request: Action — 10:05 

f. Gallatin Valley Snowmobile Association Update: Discussion — 10:10 

g. Montana Land Reliance Update: Discussion — 10:20 

h. Belonging in Big Sky Update: Discussion — 10:30 

E. Public Comment

II. Closed Meeting

Discussion of confidential business information and Resort Tax compliance of various businesses under review. 

 
BSRAD BOARD & STAFF: Sarah Blechta, Chair | Ciara Wolfe, Vice Chair | Steve Johnson, Secretary & Treasurer | 

Kevin Germain, Director | Grace Young, Director | Daniel Bierschwale, Executive Director | Kristin Drain, Finance & 
Compliance Manager | Jenny Muscat, Deputy Director | Tammy Estensen, Communications & Community 

Engagement Manager | Sara Huger, Office Manager 

* All Board Meetings are recorded and live streamed. Please visit ResortTax.org for more information. 

Big Sky Resort Area District 

11 Lone Peak Drive #204 

PO Box 160661 

Big Sky, MT 59716 

www.Resorttax.org 

info@resorttax.org 

406.995.3234 Board Meeting Agenda 
 April 19th, 2023  | 9:00am 

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 1 of 55

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89875816378


I.B. Public Comment
SNO

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 2 of 55



Board Meeting Agenda 
March 8th, 2023 | 9:00am 

Big Sky Resort Area District 
11 Lone Peak Drive #204 

PO Box 160661 
Big Sky, MT 59716 

www.Resorttax.org 
info@resorttax.org 

406.995.3234 

March’s Board meeting was held on Wednesday, March 8th at 9:00 am at the Resort Tax office and through Zoom. 

I. Open Meeting

A. Roll Call

00:01:08 All board members present; Kevin Germain attending virtually. 

B. Public Comment: NONE

C. Consent Agenda: Action

a. Approval of Minutes: February 8th & 27th, 2023

b. Finance Report: January 2023

00:02:01 Motion: to accept the Consent Agenda 

 Second: Ciara Wolfe 

00:02:16 Board members discussed finances and investment options. An investment proposal to be introduced in 

the future. Additionally, the District is considering options for event/vendor collections. 

00:04:59 Vote: Motion Passed Unanimously 

D. Regular Agenda

1. Old Business

a. Executive Report: Action

00:05:12 Daniel Bierschwale gave updates regarding communications and public engagement. The Capital 

Improvement Plan process is underway. Daniel discussed legislative bills related to special purpose districts. 

00:10:18 Daniel reviewed Letters of Inquiry (LOIs) and application processes, and eligibility criteria.  

00:11:54 Public Comment: Brad Niva, from the Chamber of Commerce and Visit Big Sky, requested an 

opportunity for applicants to view new/updated applications. 

00:12:26 Kevin Germain discussed LOIs and overview infographics.  

b. Committee Reports: Discussion

Application Revision: No updates. 

Elevate Big Sky: No updates. 

I.C. Consent Agenda
a. Approval of Minutes: March 8th, 2023 (1 of 3)

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 3 of 55

http://www.resorttax.org/
mailto:info@resorttax.org
avca:0c172c7e-0aa4-4ff2-a286-ef23aa1ce166@00:01:08
avca:0c172c7e-0aa4-4ff2-a286-ef23aa1ce166@00:02:01
avca:0c172c7e-0aa4-4ff2-a286-ef23aa1ce166@00:02:16
avca:0c172c7e-0aa4-4ff2-a286-ef23aa1ce166@00:04:59
avca:0c172c7e-0aa4-4ff2-a286-ef23aa1ce166@00:05:12
avca:0c172c7e-0aa4-4ff2-a286-ef23aa1ce166@00:10:18
avca:0c172c7e-0aa4-4ff2-a286-ef23aa1ce166@00:11:54
avca:0c172c7e-0aa4-4ff2-a286-ef23aa1ce166@00:12:26


 

County Commission 

00:13:27 Kevin Germain reviewed Northern Rocky Mountain Economic Development District (NRMEDD) scope of 

work regarding Economic Impact reports. 

00:16:21 Motion: to move forward with the scope of work with NRMEDD: Ciara Wolfe 

00:16:39 Board members discussed importance and value of reports. 

00:17:44 Vote: Motion Passed Unanimously 

Incorporation Exploration  

00:17:57 Sarah Blechta explained they met with the incorporation group to learn next steps and facilitate 

transparent and open conversation. No updates currently. 

Strategic Investments: No updates. 

c. Government Services FY24 Funding: Action 

00:18:46 Sarah Blechta explained Government Services funding requests and contracts.  

00:19:19 Daniel Bierschwale reviewed the proposed changes to Government Services contracts for FY24 funding. 

Daniel discussed steps required for water and sewer upgrades and ARPA funding.  

00:24:30 Board members discussed the proposed changes and previous awards. 

 Big Sky Fire Department 

00:25:40 Motion: approve the proposed Big Sky Fire Department FY24 funding: Steve Johnson 

  Second: Kevin Germain 

00:26:05 Vote: Motion passed unanimously. 

 Big Sky Transportation District 

00:26:26 Board members asked questions and the Transportation District discussed current routes and micro-

transit services. 

00:29:37 Ciara Wolfe asked questions about Skyline Connect micro-transit service and locations.  

00:31:06 Steve Johnson asked questions related to transportation services to work-force housing within Big Sky. 

Steve and Ciara Wolfe requested consideration for service to work-force housing locations within Big Sky. 

00:34:18 Jennifer Boyer discussed the creation of an Urban Transportation District.  

00:37:59 Kevin Germain requested resident vs tourist ridership numbers for Skyline Connect. Sarah Blechta 

expressed the importance of getting drunk drivers off the road regardless of resident or tourist. Board members 

discussed transportation concerns and needs. 

00:43:08 Motion: approve the proposed amended amount for the Big Sky Transportation District. 

00:43:15 Vote: Motion passed unanimously. 

 

 

 

 I.C. Consent Agenda 
a. Approval of Minutes: March 8th, 2023 (2 of 3)

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 4 of 55

avca:0c172c7e-0aa4-4ff2-a286-ef23aa1ce166@00:13:27
avca:0c172c7e-0aa4-4ff2-a286-ef23aa1ce166@00:16:21
avca:0c172c7e-0aa4-4ff2-a286-ef23aa1ce166@00:16:39
avca:0c172c7e-0aa4-4ff2-a286-ef23aa1ce166@00:17:44
avca:0c172c7e-0aa4-4ff2-a286-ef23aa1ce166@00:17:57
avca:0c172c7e-0aa4-4ff2-a286-ef23aa1ce166@00:18:46
avca:0c172c7e-0aa4-4ff2-a286-ef23aa1ce166@00:19:19
avca:0c172c7e-0aa4-4ff2-a286-ef23aa1ce166@00:24:30
avca:0c172c7e-0aa4-4ff2-a286-ef23aa1ce166@00:25:40
avca:0c172c7e-0aa4-4ff2-a286-ef23aa1ce166@00:26:05
avca:0c172c7e-0aa4-4ff2-a286-ef23aa1ce166@00:26:26
avca:0c172c7e-0aa4-4ff2-a286-ef23aa1ce166@00:29:37
avca:0c172c7e-0aa4-4ff2-a286-ef23aa1ce166@00:31:06
avca:0c172c7e-0aa4-4ff2-a286-ef23aa1ce166@00:34:18
avca:0c172c7e-0aa4-4ff2-a286-ef23aa1ce166@00:37:59
avca:0c172c7e-0aa4-4ff2-a286-ef23aa1ce166@00:43:08
avca:0c172c7e-0aa4-4ff2-a286-ef23aa1ce166@00:43:15


 

 Gallatin County Sheriff's Office 

00:43:39 Motion: approve proposed increase for 2 additional sheriffs, detectives, and search and rescue for 

Gallatin County Sheriff's Office FY24 funding: Kevin Germain 

  Second: Grace Young 

00:44:02 Daniel Bierschwale explained this request has been vetted by the subcommittee. The board appreciated 

Search and Rescue’s Facebook post thanking Resort Tax.  

00:45:56 Vote: Motion passed unanimously. 

 Gallatin Canyon Water & Sewer District 

00:46:08 Motion: to approve proposed amendment to Gallatin Canyon Water & Sewer District’s FY24 contract: 

Ciara Wolfe 

  Second: Steve Johnson 

00:47:16 Vote: Motion passed unanimously. 

2. New Business 

a. FY24 Request Overview: Discussion 

00:47:34 Daniel Bierschwale reviewed highlights from LOI applications and board members discussed. 

b. SNO’s Climate Action Plan: Discussion 

00:50:21 Lizzy Peyton, from Big Sky Sustainable Network Organization, presented their new Climate Action Plan. 

01:07:56 Steve Johnson asked questions related to 1% for the Planet and local business and Chamber 

commitments.  

01:08:32 Kevin Germain asked about next steps, additional metrics, and best investment options. 

E. Public Comment: NONE 

01:12:49 Motion to Adjourn 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
BSRAD BOARD & STAFF: Sarah Blechta, Chair | Ciara Wolfe, Vice Chair | Steve Johnson, Secretary & Treasurer | 

Kevin Germain, Director | Grace Young, Director | Daniel Bierschwale, Executive Director | Kristin Drain, Finance & 
Compliance Manager | Jenny Muscat, Deputy Director | Tammy Estensen, Communications & Community 

Engagement Manager | Sara Huger, Office Manager 

* All Board Meetings are recorded and live streamed. Please visit ResortTax.org for more information. 

I.C. Consent Agenda 
a. Approval of Minutes: March 8th, 2023 (3 of 3)

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 5 of 55

avca:0c172c7e-0aa4-4ff2-a286-ef23aa1ce166@00:43:39
avca:0c172c7e-0aa4-4ff2-a286-ef23aa1ce166@00:44:02
avca:0c172c7e-0aa4-4ff2-a286-ef23aa1ce166@00:45:56
avca:0c172c7e-0aa4-4ff2-a286-ef23aa1ce166@00:46:08
avca:0c172c7e-0aa4-4ff2-a286-ef23aa1ce166@00:47:16
avca:0c172c7e-0aa4-4ff2-a286-ef23aa1ce166@00:47:34
avca:0c172c7e-0aa4-4ff2-a286-ef23aa1ce166@00:50:21
avca:0c172c7e-0aa4-4ff2-a286-ef23aa1ce166@01:07:56
avca:0c172c7e-0aa4-4ff2-a286-ef23aa1ce166@01:08:32
avca:0c172c7e-0aa4-4ff2-a286-ef23aa1ce166@01:12:49


Big Sky Roadmap 
Infrastructure Investment, Funding & Voter Representation 

 

Goals: 

1. Align available public funds (Resort Tax and Property Tax) with community infrastructure 
investment.  

2. Ensure property tax equity and access to publicly funded government services. 
3. Align voter representation with governance over services provided in our own community. 
4. Leverage philanthropy and other funding sources for strategic investment in alignment with 

public funds. 
5. Educate voters to inform and promote civic engagement. 

 

Community Challenges: 
Voter Representation  
County Commission: Big Sky is split by Gallatin and Madison Counties. Big Sky is unincorporated, 
therefore some “governance” is under the authority of the commissioners from each county. Due to the 
low number of year-round residents and registered voters, Big Sky does not have the votes to elect a 
commissioner to either Gallatin or Madison Counties. [Approximately 3200 voters in District 3 of 
MadCo/500 in Big Sky (15% of the votes)].   

 
Taxing Districts out of Big Sky Service Area: The Madison County portion of Big Sky is included in the 
Ennis School District, Madison Valley Hospital District, and the Madison Valley Library District.  Due to 
the low number of registered voters, Big Sky cannot get adequate representation to these boards. In 
addition, the Districts provide little to no services to our Community while serving no voting influence in 
the governance of districts that do provide services.  For example, students residing in the Madison 
County portion physically can not attend Ennis Schools.  As a result, a parent residing in the Madison 
County portion of Big Sky can not even vote on a representative to the School District their child 
attends. 

Property Taxes 
Big Sky pays a disproportionate share of taxes to Madison and Gallatin Counties including taxing Districts 
versus services received. In addition, certain taxing districts (Library, Madison Valley Hospital and Ennis 
School District) collect significant revenue from property taxpayers from Big Sky which have no access to 
their services and have zero impact. In 2021, the Big Sky portion of Madison County in 2021 remitted 
property taxes to Madison County Entities:   

Madison Valley Library District $0.4M 
Madison Valley Hospital  $1.7M 
Ennis School District  $2.6M 

The Big Sky area values cause the taxing districts in Madison County to levy extremely low mills relative 
to other taxing jurisdictions (e.g. Ennis SD- 16 Mills; Big Sky SD- 159 mills).  As a result, any change in 
taxing jurisdiction will likely result in higher taxes being paid by properties in Madison County portion of 
Big Sky. 
 

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 6 of 55



Consolidated Government – Big Sky is unincorporated. Therefore, many government services fall under 
the authority of State, County, and Special Purpose District governance. Commissioners of each County 
or one of several Districts provide services.  This can lead to inconsistent delivery and inefficient 
management. A grassroots effort is exploring the “Pros and Cons” of municipal structure.  

Potential Solutions: 
Align Taxing Districts with Big Sky Service Area 

School Districts: 
• Big Sky has 2 school Districts (Ennis and Big Sky) 
• Need to understand where the Big Sky kids live in Madison County 

o 26 Total kids that reside in the Ennis School District and attend Big Sky School District  
• Align property tax revenue with student burdens.  
• Chart path for parents to vote for School Board Members where their kids attend.  

 
Hospital 
• Big Sky has one Hospital District that supports Madison Valley Hospital 
• Big Sky residents do not access Madison Valley Hospital due to the physical barrier. Big Sky 

Medical Center is the local hospital. 
• Form Big Sky “Wellness District”  

o “Wellness District” could be an appointed or elected board that receives funds then 
distributes to applicants 

o BSMC could apply for funds from 
o Mental Health and Substance Abuse could apply for funds from 

• Align property tax revenue with service burdens in Big Sky 
o Generates property tax revenue that can be used as local funding for BSMC as well as 

Mental Health  
o Allows for Big Sky residents to elect board and have a say on how the $ is spent 

       Library 
• Big Sky has one Library District that supports Madison Valley Library District  
• Form a Big Sky Library District that supports the Friends of the Library. 
• Generates property tax revenue for a library who provides services to Big Sky  
• Allows for Big Sky residents have a say on how the $ is spent 

Targeted Economic Development District(s) (TEDD) 
• Big Sky currently has no TEDD’s 
• Potential to do them in GalCo and MadCo 
• Utilizes Tax Increment Financing (TIF) which utilizes property taxes from future growth to solve 

existing and impeding infrastructure deficiencies  
• Routes future property taxes towards deficiencies in infrastructure 
• Notable Infrastructure Deficiencies will be outlined in Capital Improvement Plan 

o TEDDs are NOT allowed in incorporated areas – need to sequence properly 

 
 

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 7 of 55



Elevate Big Sky 
• Committee was formed to expand philanthropic and public fund alignment around community 

priorities 
• Pilot program for call for housing requests is underway 
• Maximizing philanthropic potential should continue  

Municipality 
• Further understanding of government services including impacts on existing service providers is 

needed but, in some cases, a municipal government would grant additional powers to address 
typical municipal services (e.g. water, sewer, fire, law enforcement).  

• Need a clear path forward to form Resort Community (municipal Resort Tax). 
• Current population densities indicate a small geographic subset of community limiting the larger 

property tax base of Big Sky. 
• New property tax – does not reduce taxes to the Counties or existing taxing districts. 
• Creates local zoning authority in addition to established Gallatin County Zoning District.  

County Boundaries 
• IF the above efforts are unsuccessful, Big Sky could explore amending existing County 

Boundaries or creation of a new County 
• Could have significant negative impact on County budgets. 
• Boundary re-alignment is very difficult politically but could potentially resolve all if not part of 

taxing and voter problems. 
• Potential legislative changes can lower the hurdles, but the State Constitution requires voter 

approval. 

Next Steps 
1. Develop a multi-year strategy – see draft chart below 
2. Outline legal steps with memo – see attached 
3. Identify Legislative Action for 2025 session 
4. Develop coalition of leaders/supporters for initiatives 

 

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 8 of 55



VOTER EDUCATION

2023
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2024
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2025
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2026
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2027
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2028
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2029
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Legislative Session Ballot Issue Votes*

Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4

 = January - March

 = April - June

 = July - September

 = October - December
*Does not reflect special elections

Infrastructure Investment, Funding, & Voter Representation Roadmap

BIG SKY CAPITAL  
IMPROVEMENT PLAN

3% RESORT TAX RENEWAL

1% RESORT TAX RENEWAL

INCORPORATION

WELLNESS DISTRICT

TARGETED ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT (MADISON)

MILLS, ASSESSMENTS, BONDS

PUBLIC OFFICIALS ELECTION

SCHOOL DISTRICT

TARGETED ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT (GALLATIN)

LIBRARY DISTRICT

COUNTY BOUNDARY

LEGISLATIVE ACTION

ELEVATE BIG SKY

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 9 of 55



3014662/6670.000.0004 
 
 
 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
TO: Daniel Bierschwale 

FROM: Kimberly A. Beatty 
 Hallee Frandsen 
  
DATE: April 5, 2023 

RE: Infrastructure Investment, Funding, and Voter Representation Topics 

 
 The Big Sky Resort Area District (“BSRAD” or “District”) has experienced significant 

growth in the past several years.  As such, it presently faces a variety of infrastructure 

investment, funding and voter representation topics that should be explored and discussed 

including: what public offices are up for election and when; when will the Capital Improvement 

Plan be complete and what will it recommend; what is the term of the District and when are the 

3% resort tax and the 1% infrastructure tax up for renewal; what does the District do and what 

are Special Districts; should a city should be incorporated within the District because of the 

District’s growth; whether a county boundary change to bring all areas of the District under a 

single county’s jurisdiction may help provide better service and government access to the 

growing District; what funding sources other than the 3% resort tax and 1% infrastructure tax are 

 

G. ANDREW  ADAMEK 
CHAD E.  ADAMS 
DANIEL J.  AUERBACH 
KIMBERLY A. BEATTY 
TROY L. BENTSON 
SARA S. BERG 
LEO BERRY 
MARK D. ETCHART 
STEVE J. FITZPATRICK 
HALLEE FRANDSEN 
OLIVER H. GOE 
THOMAS E. HATTERSLEY, III 
 

 

Mailing Address 
POST OFFICE BOX 1697 

HELENA, MONTANA 59624-1697 
TELEPHONE  (406) 443-6820 

bkbh@bkbh.com 

Street Address 
800 N. LAST CHANCE GULCH, #101 

HELENA, MONTANA 59601-3351 
TELEFAX (406) 443-6883 

www.bkbh.com 

 

J. DANIEL HOVEN 
JUDD M. JENSEN  

CATHERINE A. LAUGHNER 
CHRISTY SURR MCCANN 

EMILY MCCULLOCH 
MICHAEL L. RAUSCH 
BRIAN P. THOMPSON  
EVAN M. THOMPSON 

W. JOHN TIETZ 
MICHAEL T. TROSPER 
MEGAN E. WAMPLER 

STEVEN T. WADE 
LEO S. WARD 

MORGAN M. WEBER  
R. STEPHEN  BROWNING (1940-2018) 
STANLEY T. KALECZYC : OF COUNSEL 

 

    

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 10 of 55



Memo to Daniel Bierschwale 
RE:  Infrastructure Investment, Funding and Voter Representation Topics 
April 5, 2023 
Page 2 
 

BSRAD Infrastructure Investment Funding and Voter Representation legal memo (4.5.2023)/6670.000.0004 
 
 

available or should be considered within the District; and what legislative changes might be 

needed to address some of the issues raised by the population growth within the District.   

You have asked us to prepare an initial memo, addressing some of these topics.  With this 

memo, we have attempted to generally follow the outline contained in the Infrastructure 

Investment, Funding, and Voter Representation Roadmap (“Roadmap”) you provided and have 

tried to group topics to broadly align with some of those items.  The purpose of this memo is not 

to guide a particular course of action, but rather to be read in conjunction with the Roadmap and 

to begin exploring several of the broad topics which are presently on the minds of many within 

the District. As such, this memo will provide a general explanation of some of these issues, as 

well as the impacts on BSRAD should any of these options be taken by the requisite voters. 

Topics Addressed 

 While this memo attempts to generally follow the Roadmap, there are several topics 

listed in the Roadmap which are not specifically addressed in this memo.  These include:  Public 

Officials Elections, the Capital Improvement Plan, Mills/Assessments/Bonds, Targeted 

Economic Development Districts (TEDDs), and Legislative Action.  The rest of the topics are 

generally covered in the following Sections: 

Section I Resort Area District Term, Renewals and Authority (pages 3 - 7 below) 
 
Section II Special Districts:  General discussion, School District, Wellness District, 

and Library District (pages 8 - 17 below) 
 
Section III Incorporation Topics (pages 18 - 30 below) 
 
Section IV County Boundary Topics (pages 31 - 35 below) 

  

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 11 of 55



Memo to Daniel Bierschwale 
RE:  Infrastructure Investment, Funding and Voter Representation Topics 
April 5, 2023 
Page 3 
 

BSRAD Infrastructure Investment Funding and Voter Representation legal memo (4.5.2023)/6670.000.0004 
 
 

SECTION I: Resort Area District Term, Renewals, and Authority 

1. May a Resort Area District have a perpetual term, or is it limited to a term of 
specified years?   

 
MCA § 7-6-1541(1)(a) states that Resort Area Districts may have “perpetual 

succession”.  MCA § 7-6-1541(2) provides for the ability of the qualified electorate to extend 

the term of a Resort Area District that does not have “perpetual succession.”  In 1997 when the 

legislature first adopted statutes for Resort Area Districts, it did not include MCA § 7-6-

1541(2).  Therefore, the statutes back then read simply that Resort Area Districts may have 

“perpetual succession.”  Because it is permissive, and not mandatory to have “perpetual 

succession”, some Districts (like BSRAD) were formed for specified time periods instead of 

with “perpetual succession.” In 2005 the legislature added MCA § 7-6-1541(2) to specifically 

allow Resort Area Districts that do not have “perpetual succession” (but rather were created for 

a specified period of time) to extend the term of the Resort Area District.  This begs the 

question of what, exactly, does “perpetual succession” mean, and whether a Resort Area 

District that was created for specific term of years can be converted to having “perpetual 

succession” instead. 

The term “perpetual succession” is not specifically defined within Resort Area District 

statutes, but Black’s Law Dictionary defines it as: “that continuous existence which enables a 

corporation to manage its affairs, and hold property without the necessity of perpetual 

conveyances, for the purpose of transmitting it.  By reason of this quality, this ideal and 

artificial person remains, in its legal entity and personality, the same, though frequent changes 

may be made of its members.”  Also, “perpetual” is defined by Black’s Law Dictionary as: 

“never ceasing; continuous; enduring; lasting; unlimited in respect of time; continuing without 

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 12 of 55



Memo to Daniel Bierschwale 
RE:  Infrastructure Investment, Funding and Voter Representation Topics 
April 5, 2023 
Page 4 
 

BSRAD Infrastructure Investment Funding and Voter Representation legal memo (4.5.2023)/6670.000.0004 
 
 

intermission or interval.”  In 2016, the Montana Supreme Court adopted a national definition 

for the term, noting that municipalities can enjoy a higher degree of permanency and a greater 

degree of stability as there is no dissolution or division of assets.  See City of Missoula v. 

Mountain Water Co., 2016 MT 183, 384 Mont. 193, 378 P.3d 1113 (adopting Duck River Elec. 

Membership Corp. v. City of Manchester, 529 S.W.2d 202 (1975)).   

We have also reviewed the legislative hearing transcripts and testimony provided for the 

original legislation in 1997 and the 2005 amendments to see if there was any specific 

discussion surrounding the “term” of Resort Area Districts.  There was no specific discussion 

concerning whether a Resort Area District’s term could be “perpetual” or whether it must be for 

a designated period of years.  There was acknowledgement from some giving testimony, that a 

Resort Area District’s term could be “perpetual”, but that it would be beneficial for a Resort 

Area District to at least have a term of years no shorter than the length of a typical bond 

repayment schedule, which is 20 years; and as a result, we speculate that is why this District’s 

initial term was for a period of 20 years rather than designated as “perpetual.”  However, we 

have confirmed there are no statutes (and never were any statutes) that limit the term of a 

Resort Area District to 20 years, or to any other particular number of years.   

Given the above noted definitions, caselaw, and legislative history, we believe the plain 

meaning of the statute is that the term of a Resort Area District may be either perpetual, or it 

may be for a specified period of time – whichever the voters decide.  Likewise, there is nothing 

in the statutes that prohibits a Resort Area District that was originally formed for a specified 

period of time, from converting to “perpetual succession” as long as the voters agree to such 

change. 

/// 

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 13 of 55



Memo to Daniel Bierschwale 
RE:  Infrastructure Investment, Funding and Voter Representation Topics 
April 5, 2023 
Page 5 
 

BSRAD Infrastructure Investment Funding and Voter Representation legal memo (4.5.2023)/6670.000.0004 
 
 

2. What is BSRAD’s term? 

As noted above, this District was originally formed with a 20-year term.  That term was 

later extended and is presently set to expire in 2032.  Votes to extend a term may be taken no 

more than once each year and cannot be taken earlier than 50% through any designated term.  

MCA § 7-6-1541(2)(b).  Since this District’s current term is more than 50% over, the question of 

whether to extend the term at all, and if so, for what period of time (conversion to a perpetual 

term or extension for another term of specified years) can now be placed to the electorate at any 

time.  Therefore, the next ballot related to an extension of BSRAD’s term may request the term 

be extended for another 20-year period (or even some other limited time period), or it may 

request BSRAD be granted “perpetual succession.”  It would be advisable for BSRAD to call for 

an election on its term prior to the expiration of the exiting term in 2032, that way, if an initial 

vote fails, the question can be presented again to the electorate the following y. 

3. When does BSRAD’s 3% Resort Tax expire? 

The 3% resort tax is a tax for a specified term of years, which term expires in 2032.  As 

a result, the BSRAD Board may not issue debt service payment obligations beyond 2032.  The 

3% resort tax may be extended beyond 2032 (for another term of specified years or for a 

“perpetual” term) if the qualified electorate of the District chooses to do so. 

4. When does BSRAD’s 1% Infrastructure Tax expire?   

The 1% infrastructure tax will expire and terminate when the specified infrastructure 

debts and project costs are paid, unless BSRAD’s Board submits and the qualified electors 

approve another levy for additional infrastructure debts or projects.  MCA § 7-6-1504(4)(d).   

 

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 14 of 55



Memo to Daniel Bierschwale 
RE:  Infrastructure Investment, Funding and Voter Representation Topics 
April 5, 2023 
Page 6 
 

BSRAD Infrastructure Investment Funding and Voter Representation legal memo (4.5.2023)/6670.000.0004 
 
 

5. What is a Resort Area District Authorized to do/what is the authority of its 
Board? 

 
A Resort Area District has the general authority to do all acts necessary to exercise its 

powers, as given to it by the electorate when the Resort Area District was created.   This includes 

having perpetual succession or succession for only a specified period of years (as noted above); 

having the ability to sue and to be sued in courts of competent jurisdiction; acquiring real and 

personal property necessary to the full exercise of its powers; making contracts, employing labor, 

and taking other acts necessary for the full exercise of its powers; and issuing and repaying 

bonds. See generally, MCA § 7-6-1541. 

A Resort Area District, through its governing Board, may also appropriate and expend 

revenue from an authorized Resort Tax and/or Infrastructure Tax for any activity, undertaking, or 

administrative service authorized in the resolution/ballot creating the District and adopting the 

Resort Tax.  See generally, MCA § 7-6-1542(1)(a).  It may adopt administrative ordinances 

necessary to administer, collect, and spend the Resort Tax and issue certain bonds under certain 

conditions.   See generally, MCA § 7-6-1542(1)(b), (c); see also MCA § 7-6-1542(2) – (4).  It 

may submit to a vote of the qualified electorate whether to extend the Resort Tax and/or to 

impose the additional Infrastructure Tax.  See generally, MCA § 7-6-1541(2); § 7-6-1542(1)(d).  

A Resort Area District must comply with certain bonding limitations on its use of Resort 

Tax revenues and may not commit cumulative annual debt service payments that exceed 70% of 

the revenue raised from the infrastructure resort tax.  And debt service payments may not be 

issued for a term longer than the remaining duration of the term of the Resort Area District.  See 

generally, MCA § 7-6-1542(4) – (6).   

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 15 of 55



Memo to Daniel Bierschwale 
RE:  Infrastructure Investment, Funding and Voter Representation Topics 
April 5, 2023 
Page 7 
 

BSRAD Infrastructure Investment Funding and Voter Representation legal memo (4.5.2023)/6670.000.0004 
 
 

Because BSRAD is a Resort Area District for a specified term of years, expiring in 2032, 

it may not issue debt service payment obligations beyond 2032. However, should the qualified 

electorate determine it appropriate to change BSRAD’s term to perpetual or to extend its term for 

a period of years beyond 2032, then BSRAD may issue bonds (and incur debt service 

obligations) beyond 2032.  Because BSRAD’s current term is more than 50% over, BSRAD may 

at any time submit to the electorate the question of whether to extend the term of the Resort Tax 

and/or to change the duration of BSRAD to “perpetual succession.” 

  

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 16 of 55



Memo to Daniel Bierschwale 
RE:  Infrastructure Investment, Funding and Voter Representation Topics 
April 5, 2023 
Page 8 
 

BSRAD Infrastructure Investment Funding and Voter Representation legal memo (4.5.2023)/6670.000.0004 
 
 

SECTION II: Special Districts 

6. What are Special Districts, and what role do they play in providing services 
to a community?   

 
Special Districts are generally authorized under Title 7, Chapter 11, Part 10 of the 

Montana Code.  A “Special District” is a unit of local government that is authorized by law to 

perform a single function or a limited number of functions.  MCA § 7-11-1002(3)(a).  They may 

include, but are not limited to, districts for cemeteries, museums, parks, fairs, solid waste, local 

improvements, mosquito control, multijurisdictional, roads, rodent control, television, and 

districts created for any public or governmental purpose not specifically prohibited by law.  

MCA § 7-11-1002(3)(b).  However, the term does not include a variety of other special districts 

(categorized in this memo as “Other Districts”, including those for business improvement, 

conservation, water and sewer, planning and zoning, grazing, hospital, irrigation, library, 

parking, rural improvement, special improvement, lighting and rural fire, and urban 

transportation which have separate statutory authority from “special districts.”  MCA § 7-11-

1002(3)(c).  Special Districts are created by the governing body by resolution, referendum, or 

petition of inhabitants of a special district following public hearings on the matter.  MCA § 7-11-

1003 and 1007.  Once established, the governing body may also establish assessments or fees.  

MCA§  7-11-1013. 

Certain Other Districts already exist within the BSRAD as described below. However, 

the below discussion is intended only to be a high-level overview, and additional research and 

detail may be needed to really analyze these Other Districts and how they operate within the 

BSRAD and how they may be altered to better suit the needs of BSRAD residents.  We are 

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 17 of 55



Memo to Daniel Bierschwale 
RE:  Infrastructure Investment, Funding and Voter Representation Topics 
April 5, 2023 
Page 9 
 

BSRAD Infrastructure Investment Funding and Voter Representation legal memo (4.5.2023)/6670.000.0004 
 
 

happy to provide similar information for any Other Districts within BSRAD not addressed below 

upon request.   

A. Hospital or Wellness Districts:  Can a hospital or wellness district cross-
county boundaries? Can residents in one county withdraw from a current 
hospital or wellness district and join another? 

 
Creation: Generally, Montana statutes authorize the creation of hospital districts, 

which shall have the power to supply hospital facilities and services and health care facilities 

and services to the residents of the district.  MCA § 7-34-2101.  The first step in creating a new 

hospital district is “a petition signed by not less than 30% of the qualified electors of the 

proposed hospital district who are taxpayers upon property within the proposed district and 

whose names appear on the las-completed assessment roll for state and county taxes.” MCA § 

7-34-2103.  The petition is filed with the county clerk and recorder, who in turn certifies the 

requisite signatures.  MCA § 7-34-2105.  The petition is then sent to the County 

Commissioners, who will in turn hold a hearing on whether to create the district.  MCA § 7-34-

2106 - 2108, and 2110.  The County Commissioners will then present the issue to the qualified 

electors residing within the boundaries of the proposed district for a vote.  MCA § 7-34-2109 

and 2113.   

The boundaries of a hospital district “may contain the entire territory embraced within a 

county or any portion or subdivision thereof.”  MCA § 7-34-2111, MCA.  The statutes are 

silent on whether the hospital district may cross county boundaries.  As such, much like with a 

municipality that will cross county boundaries, the creation of a proposed hospital district 

crossing county boundaries would likely require duplicate processes in each county.  If one 

county rejected the creation of the district, then the district would fail.  As such, it may be more 

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 18 of 55



Memo to Daniel Bierschwale 
RE:  Infrastructure Investment, Funding and Voter Representation Topics 
April 5, 2023 
Page 10 
 

BSRAD Infrastructure Investment Funding and Voter Representation legal memo (4.5.2023)/6670.000.0004 
 
 

appropriate to either create two separate districts (one in each county) who then work together 

through an interlocal agreement, or to form a district in one county first, and then have that 

district annex the territory that sits across the county boundary.   

As described below, a hospital district’s boundaries may also be altered after the district 

is created; land may be annexed into or withdrawn from a hospital district, and a hospital 

district may be dissolved.   

Annexation:  The Montana code allows the boundaries of a hospital district “may be 

altered and outlying districts may be annexed from territory contiguous thereto.”  MCA § 7-34-

2151.  To annex land into a hospital district, Montana statutes require  “A petition signed by 

10% or more of the freeholders within the territory proposed to be annexed or by a majority of 

such freeholders if there are less than 25 residing within the area proposed to be annexed, 

designating the boundaries of such contiguous territory proposed to be annexed and asking that 

it be annexed to said public hospital district, shall be presented to the board of county 

commissioners of the county in which said public hospital district is situated.”  MCA § 7-34-

2152.  It does not appear to be an impediment to annexation for the residents petitioning for 

annexation to reside in a different county as long as they reside in an area that is contiguous to 

the existing hospital district.  Further, there are no statutes that allow the county in which the 

residents live (if different than the county in which the hospital district is located) to play any 

role in the question of annexation.  The County Commissioners in the county in which the 

district is located must hold a hearing on the annexation petition, and they have the power to: 

(1) grant said petition either in whole or in part; (2) alter the boundaries of said public hospital 

district; and (3) annex all or such portion of said area or territory described in the 

petition.  MCA § 7-34-2153 - 2154.  If annexation is approved, “The annexed territory shall 

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 19 of 55



Memo to Daniel Bierschwale 
RE:  Infrastructure Investment, Funding and Voter Representation Topics 
April 5, 2023 
Page 11 
 

BSRAD Infrastructure Investment Funding and Voter Representation legal memo (4.5.2023)/6670.000.0004 
 
 

become and be a part of such public hospital district on the date fixed in the order of annexation 

and shall be subject to the taxes authorized by this part, including taxes for any preexisting 

indebtedness, together with the preexisting area of said district; and such taxes shall be uniform 

for the whole area and territory in the district as enlarged.”  MCA § 7-34-2155.   

A vote of those residing in the territory does not appear to be required.  If the territory to 

be annexed is already within the different hospital district’s boundaries, it must be withdrawn 

from the first district before it can be annexed into the second district.   

Withdrawal:  The Montana statutes allow for a withdrawal of property from an existing 

hospital district: “Any portion of a public hospital district may be withdrawn therefrom … upon 

receipt of a petition signed by 51% or more of the taxpayers residing in and owning property 

within the area desired to be withdrawn from any public hospital district, on the grounds that 

such area will not be benefited by remaining in said district.”  MCA § 7-34-2156.  The petition 

to withdraw is submitted to the County Commissioners, who will notice and hold a public 

hearing.  MCA § 7-34-2157.   The decision to permit or reject the withdrawal is made by the 

County Commissioners, though that decision is appealable to the District Court and ultimately 

to the Montana Supreme Court.  MCA § 7-34-2158.  Even if the property is successfully 

withdrawn, it shall still remain subject to taxation in that County for any bonded indebtedness 

of the hospital district existing as of the date of the withdrawal.  See § 7-34-2160, MCA.   

Dissolution: A hospital district may be dissolved no sooner than 5 years after its 

creation, upon a petition to the County Commissioners signed by at least 51% of the owners of 

property lying within such district as shown by the last-completed assessment roll.  MCA § 7-

34-2161.  Following receipt of the petition, the County Commissioners must notice and hold a 

public hearing on whether to dissolve the district.  MCA § 7-34-2162.  The County 

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 20 of 55



Memo to Daniel Bierschwale 
RE:  Infrastructure Investment, Funding and Voter Representation Topics 
April 5, 2023 
Page 12 
 

BSRAD Infrastructure Investment Funding and Voter Representation legal memo (4.5.2023)/6670.000.0004 
 
 

Commissioners may dissolve a district if they find (1) the petition to be sufficient; (2) the 

district is not indebted in any amount beyond funds immediately available to extinguish all of 

its debts and obligations; and (3) there is good reason for the dissolution.  MCA § 7-34-2163.   

Fees, Bonds and Taxes. A hospital district has the authority to set fees, issue 

bonds, borrow money, and levy taxes.  See MCA § 7-34-2122, 2131, 2133, 2137, and 2138. 

B. Library Districts:  Can two library districts be consolidated?  Can territory within 
one library district withdraw from that district and move to a different library 
district? 
 

A public library district may contain the entire territory of a county, the territory of part 

of a county, or territory in more than one county.”  It may also include incorporated 

municipalities.  However, the territory within a public library district must contain a taxable 

value of at least $5,000,000.  MCA § 22-1-701.  A public library district’s trustees may 

establish a property tax mill levy for the operation of the district. MCA § 22-1-707(2)(e) and 

708.  The maximum property tax mill levy authorized for the operation of a public library 

district may be changed by following a specific petition and election process.  See MCA § 22-

1-709.   

Proceedings for (1) the creation of a public library district , or (2) the enlargement of a 

public library district, or (3) the conversion of a public library into a public library district are 

initiated by (a) a petition not less than 15% of the qualified electors who reside within the 

proposed district or in the area proposed to be added to an existing district or (b) a resolution of 

intent adopted by the county governing body calling for the creation of the district.  The 

petition must include the boundaries of the district, a map of the district, the proposed 

maximum property tax mill levy that could be levied on property owners within the district for 

the operation of the district, and the number of trustees for the district (either 5 or 7).   If the 

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 21 of 55



Memo to Daniel Bierschwale 
RE:  Infrastructure Investment, Funding and Voter Representation Topics 
April 5, 2023 
Page 13 
 

BSRAD Infrastructure Investment Funding and Voter Representation legal memo (4.5.2023)/6670.000.0004 
 
 

territory of the district is in more than one county, petitions must be gathered in each county 

and presented to each county’s governing body.  The governing body of the county (or 

counties) must then notice and hold a public hearing.  Following a hearing, the governing body 

determines whether to move forward with the creation of the district, and if so, it will set the 

boundaries, the maximum mill levy and the number of trustees, and then call for an election on 

whether to create the district.  The election may be by mail.  MCA § 22-1-702.  Only qualifying 

within the boundaries of the proposed district may vote.  MCA § 22-1-703. 

Territory within one existing public library district may be consolidated into a 

contiguous public library district upon the adoption of a resolution, following a public hearing, 

by the board of trustees of each district.  MCA § 22-1-705(3).  If all or part of the territory 

served by a public library is included within the boundaries of a public library district, the 

governing that established the public library shall then hold a hearing on whether the public 

library territory should be included in the library district and consolidated into that district.  The 

governing body shall hold a public hearing and then made a decision whether or not to 

consolidate.  If the decision is no, then the public library district’s boundaries shall be modified.  

MCA § 22-1-705.   

A public library district may be dissolved after an election on the question of the 

dissolving district.  The process of dissolving the district may be initiated by a petition of 15% 

of the electorate of the public library district, or by a resolution of intent to dissolve the district 

adopted by the board of trustees or by the county governing body in which the territory of the 

public library district is located.  Once a requisite petition is received, the question of whether 

to dissolve is submitted to the electorate of the dissolving public library district for a vote, or a 

public hearing called by the county governing body.  Following a public hearing, the county 

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 22 of 55



Memo to Daniel Bierschwale 
RE:  Infrastructure Investment, Funding and Voter Representation Topics 
April 5, 2023 
Page 14 
 

BSRAD Infrastructure Investment Funding and Voter Representation legal memo (4.5.2023)/6670.000.0004 
 
 

governing body may pose the question to the electorate to either dissolve the district or alter the 

district’s boundaries.  A simple majority of those voting on the question in each of the two 

territories (the one wanting to withdraw and the existing territory) is needed.  MCA § 22-1-710. 

Interestingly, the Montana code also specifically allows the creation of a 

multijurisdictional service district that may provide library services.  See MCA § 7-11-

1102(2)(c).  Library services offered through a multijurisdictional service district library must 

comply with the “free library” statutes found at MCA § 22-1-305 – 317.  (Multijurisdictional 

service districts can also be established for recreation programs, road/street/highway 

maintenance; jails; dog control programs; ambulance services; dispatch services; protection of 

human health and environment issues; health services; and maintenance or provision of public 

infrastructure facilities.  MCA § 7-11-1102.) 

C. School Districts:   Can school district boundaries be altered and what is the 
process? 

 
The authority to alter school district boundaries is legislative in nature and rests entirely 

within the power of the legislature.  In re Petition to Transfer Territory from High Sch. Dist. 

No. 6, 2000 MT 342, P11, 303 Mont. 204, 15 P.3d 447 (citing Read v. Stephens, 121 Mont. 

508, 512, 193 P.2d 626, 628 (1948)).  The legislature granted the power to transfer territory 

from one school district to another to local county superintendents which may make such 

decisions based on certain criteria. 

The first criteria is that the two districts must be contiguous.  Second, approval must be 

granted from both County Superintendents: one for the withdrawal of school district territory 

from one district; and the second for the annexation of territory into the district.  Third, 

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 23 of 55



Memo to Daniel Bierschwale 
RE:  Infrastructure Investment, Funding and Voter Representation Topics 
April 5, 2023 
Page 15 
 

BSRAD Infrastructure Investment Funding and Voter Representation legal memo (4.5.2023)/6670.000.0004 
 
 

approvals must also be obtained from the superintendents and the school board trustees of each 

of the schools involved.   

When considering whether to approve the petition, the county superintendent considers 

the best and collective interest of the students in both the receiving and transferring districts to 

determine if the transfer would negatively impact the ability of the districts to serve those 

students. A strong argument can be made that when children in one district cannot physically 

reach the schools in their district because of transportation blocks, then withdrawal from one 

district and annexation into another district is warranted. 

An elementary district or a high school district may not be created and elementary 

district boundaries may not be changed between the first day of January and the fourth Monday 

of August of any calendar year. MCA § 20-6-202 and 314. 

The process for transferring territory from one school district to another is made by 

petition: (i) petition is signed by 60% of the registered electors qualified to vote at general 

elections in the territory proposed for transfer; (ii) the territory to be transferred must be 

contiguous to the district to which it is to be attached, includes taxable property, and has school 

age children living in it; (iii) the territory to be transferred cannot be located within 3 miles, 

over the shortest practicable route, of an operating school in the district from which it is to be 

transferred; and (iv) the board of trustees of the school district that would receive the territory 

must also approve the proposed transfer by a resolution adopted by a majority of the members 

of the board of trustees at a meeting from which proper notice was given.  MCA § 20-6-

105(1)(a).  Further, “a petition to transfer territory to or from a K-12 district may not be 

presented to a county superintendent unless both school boards and the county superintendents 

have agreed in writing.”  MCA § 20-6-105(1)(b).   

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 24 of 55



Memo to Daniel Bierschwale 
RE:  Infrastructure Investment, Funding and Voter Representation Topics 
April 5, 2023 
Page 16 
 

BSRAD Infrastructure Investment Funding and Voter Representation legal memo (4.5.2023)/6670.000.0004 
 
 

The petition seeking a transfer of territory must be delivered to the county 

superintendent and must: (a) provide a legal description of the territory that is requested to be 

transferred and a description of the district to which the territory is to be transferred; (b) state 

the reasons why the transfer is requested; and (c) state the number of school-age children 

residing in the territory.   MCA § 20-6-105(3).  If both the trustees of the receiving and 

transferring school districts have approved the proposed territory transfer in writing, the county 

superintendent shall grant the transfer.”  MCA § 20-6-105(4).  

However, the county superintendent shall also conduct a hearing as scheduled, and any 

resident, taxpayer, or representative of the receiving or transferring district must, upon request, 

be heard.  At the hearing, the petitioners have the initial burden of presenting evidence on the 

proposed transfer’s effect on: (a) the educational opportunity for the students in the receiving 

and transferring districts, including but not limited to: (i) class size; (ii) ability to maintain 

demographic diversity; (iii) local control; (iv) parental involvement; and (v) the capability of 

the receiving district to provide educational services; (b) student transportation, including but 

not limited to: (i) safety; (ii) cost; and (iii) travel time of students; (c) the economic viability of 

the proposed new districts, including but not limited to: (i) the existence of a significant burden 

on the taxpayers of the district from which the territory will be transferred; (ii) the significance 

of any loss in state funding for the students in both the receiving and transferring districts; (iii) 

the viability of the future bonding capacity of the receiving and transferring districts, including 

but not limited to the ability of the receiving district and transferring district to meet minimum 

bonding requirements; (iv) the ability of the receiving district and the transferring district to 

maintain sufficient reserves; and (v) the cumulative effects of other transfers of territory out of 

the district in the previous 8 years on the taxable value of the district from which the territory is 

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 25 of 55



Memo to Daniel Bierschwale 
RE:  Infrastructure Investment, Funding and Voter Representation Topics 
April 5, 2023 
Page 17 
 

BSRAD Infrastructure Investment Funding and Voter Representation legal memo (4.5.2023)/6670.000.0004 
 
 

to be transferred.  In cases where the cumulative effect of other transfers of territory out of the 

district in the previous 8 years is equal to or greater than 25% of the district’s taxable value, the 

following additional factors must be considered and weighed in the decision: (A) the district’s 

rate of passage of discretional levies placed before the voters over the previous 8 years; (B) the 

district’s reduction or elimination of instructional staff or programs over the previous 8 years; 

and (C) any increase in district taxes over the previous 8 years and the likely increase in district 

taxes if the transfer is granted.”  MCA § 20-6-105(6). 

“If based on a preponderance of the evidence, the county superintendent determines that 

the evidence on the effects described in subsection (6) supports a conclusion that a transfer of 

the territory is in the best and collective interest of the students in the receiving and transferring 

districts and does not negatively impact the ability of the districts to serve those students, the 

county superintendent shall grant the transfer.  If the county superintendent determines that, 

based on a preponderance of the evidence presented at the hearing, a transfer of the territory is 

not in the best and collective interest of students in the receiving and transferring districts and 

will negatively impact the ability of the districts to serve those students, the county 

superintendent shall deny the territory transfer.”  MCA § 20-6-105(8).  

A petition seeking to transfer territory out of or into a K-12 district must propose the transfer or 

territory for both elementary and high school purposes.  MCA § 20-6-105(11).  A petition 

cannot propose the transfer of one age of student without seeking the transfer of all. 

 

  

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 26 of 55



Memo to Daniel Bierschwale 
RE:  Infrastructure Investment, Funding and Voter Representation Topics 
April 5, 2023 
Page 18 
 

BSRAD Infrastructure Investment Funding and Voter Representation legal memo (4.5.2023)/6670.000.0004 
 
 

SECTION III: Incorporation Topics 

7. What is the impact to BSRAD should a municipality be incorporated within 
the boundaries of the District? 

 
A discussion generally of “resort areas,” “resort area districts” and “resort communities” 

is needed to understand what impacts the incorporation of a city may have on BSRAD.   

By statutory definition, a “resort area” is at the time of its creation (1) an unincorporated, 

contiguous area, (2) with a population of fewer than 2500 people, (3) in which area the majority 

of the economy is based on tourism, and (4) which area has been designated by the Montana 

Department of Commerce as a “Resort Area” and established as such by the county commission. 

See generally, MCA § 7-6-1501(7).  A Resort Area is administered by county commissioners.  

See generally, MCA § 7-6-1509.  Gallatin and Madison Counties designated the Big Sky Resort 

Area in 1992. 

A “resort area district” is a Resort Area which the qualified electors have also elected to 

designate a District.  See generally, MCA § 7-6-1501(8).  A Resort Area District is administered 

by an elected Board.  See generally, MCA § 7-6-1541 – 1542.   

A “resort community” is (1) an incorporated municipality (2) with a population at the 

time of its designation of less than 5,500 people.  See MCA § 7-6-1501(9).  A Resort 

Community is administered by the governing body of the municipality. See generally MCA § 7-

6-1502 and 1505.   

A Resort Area District, a Resort Area, or a Resort Community may impose, collect and 

spend a resort tax if such tax has first been approved by a majority of the qualified electors 

within the Resort Area District, Resort Area, or Resort Community.  Once approved by the 

requisite vote, a resort tax in a Resort Area District is administered by the District’s Board; a 

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 27 of 55



Memo to Daniel Bierschwale 
RE:  Infrastructure Investment, Funding and Voter Representation Topics 
April 5, 2023 
Page 19 
 

BSRAD Infrastructure Investment Funding and Voter Representation legal memo (4.5.2023)/6670.000.0004 
 
 

resort tax in a Resort Area is administered by the County Commissioners of the Resort Area; and 

a resort tax in a Resort Community is administered by the governing body of the Resort 

Community (the governing body of the municipality).  See MCA § 7-6-1505. 

In Big Sky, a Resort Area was properly designated and created in 1992, and the resort tax 

was also first authorized in that same year and had a scheduled termination date of 2012.  In 

1998, the Big Sky Resort Area District was formed by requisite vote of the qualified electors in 

both Gallatin and Madison Counties and administration of BSRAD and administration of its 

Resort Tax passed from the County Commissioners to the BSRAD Board.  In 2006, the BSRAD 

electorate extended the Resort Tax term from 2012 through 2032.  The decision to extend the 

term to impose, collect and spend the resort tax must be renewed by the voters by 2032, or 

pursuant to statute, the authorization for the tax will expire.  See generally, MCA § 7-6-

1441(2)(b).   

The authority of a Resort Area District’s Board is also set forth in the Montana Code, 

which includes the authority to appropriate and expend revenue from the resort tax and/or the 

infrastructure tax for any activity, undertaking or administrative service authorized in the 

resolution creating the Resort Area District or in authorizing the infrastructure tax, and to adopt 

administrative ordinances necessary to aid in the collection, reporting, remitting, or expending 

such taxes. See § MCA 7-6-1541 and 1542.   

A Resort Area District may be dissolved upon a petition to do so and a requisite vote of 

the qualified electors.  See MCA § 7-6-1548 - 1550.  However, there are no statutes that provide 

for the dissolution of the underlying Resort Area, even if the Resort Area District is dissolved.  

In 2009, the Montana Attorney General issued an opinion which specifically found that if a 

Resort Area District is dissolved, the underlying designated Resort Area does not dissolve.  All 

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 28 of 55



Memo to Daniel Bierschwale 
RE:  Infrastructure Investment, Funding and Voter Representation Topics 
April 5, 2023 
Page 20 
 

BSRAD Infrastructure Investment Funding and Voter Representation legal memo (4.5.2023)/6670.000.0004 
 
 

that changes is the governing body for the area:  the BSRAD Board would no longer administer 

the Resort Area District or the resort or infrastructure taxes; instead, those duties would fall to 

the County Commissioners (here, to Gallatin and Madison Counties).  See, 53 Mont AG Opinion 

1, dated April 7, 2009, ¶6 - ¶9. 

As a result of this statutory scheme, once a Resort Area is designated, it cannot be 

dissolved.  If that Resort Area also becomes a Resort Area District, all that changes is the 

governing body (from the County Commissioners to a District Board).  A resort tax may be 

imposed and collected by either the Resort Area or Resort Area District following the 

appropriate vote, and the resort tax will continue to be imposed and collected until the qualified 

electors decline to renew it.  Likewise, an infrastructure tax may also be imposed and collected 

by either the Resort Area or Resort Area District following the appropriate vote and will 

continue to be imposed and collected until the purpose for which it was imposed has been 

satisfied.  Thereafter, the infrastructure tax is terminated, unless the qualified electorate vote to 

approve a new infrastructure tax.  Here, BSRAD, can be dissolved, but once dissolved it will 

return to a Resort Area administered by the County Commissioners and the taxes will continue to 

be imposed and collected until they are not renewed or the infrastructure purpose has been 

satisfied.  The Resort Area remains in perpetuity and cannot be dissolved. 

The same Montana Attorney General opinion noted above also states that a municipality 

can be incorporated within the boundaries of a Resort Area District.  See, 53 Mont AG Opinion 

1, dated April 7, 2009, ¶4.  But the incorporation of a municipality within a Resort Area District 

will not impact the boundaries of or business of the Resort Area District.  As such, the 

expenditure of the Resort Tax within the Resort Area District falls to the sole discretion of the 

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 29 of 55



Memo to Daniel Bierschwale 
RE:  Infrastructure Investment, Funding and Voter Representation Topics 
April 5, 2023 
Page 21 
 

BSRAD Infrastructure Investment Funding and Voter Representation legal memo (4.5.2023)/6670.000.0004 
 
 

Resort Area District Board, and not to the municipality’s governing body.  See, 53 Mont AG 

Opinion 1, dated April 7, 2009, ¶7 and ¶8. 

 Beyond these issues described above, however, the incorporation of a city within the 

BSRAD’s boundaries may raise a host of other questions that are worth exploring at the 

appropriate time, but which are not addressed in this memo including:  

 If BSRAD funds any portion of the municipality’s operations or projects, but the 

resort tax is not renewed, what happens to the municipality’s ability to operate? 

 Can one individual be elected to sit on both the BSRAD Board and hold city 

office? 

 What impact will a municipality have, if any, on other existing taxing districts in 

the greater Big Sky area, such as a transportation district, a library district, a 

hospital district, a parks and recreation district, a school district, a fire district, 

water and sewer districts, zoning districts? 

 What are the costs for incorporation and for operations of the municipality and 

how will they be funded: including police force, fire, ambulance, and emergency 

services, jails, court systems, city offices? 

 What impact will liquor licensing laws have in a municipality established within a 

resort area district? 

8. What services must a municipality provide? 

Generally, a city or town council has the “power to make and pass all bylaws, ordinances, 

orders, and resolutions not repugnant to the constitution of the United States or the state of 

Montana or to the provisions of this title, necessary for the government or management of the 

affairs of a city or town, for the execution of the powers vested in the body corporate, and for 

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 30 of 55



Memo to Daniel Bierschwale 
RE:  Infrastructure Investment, Funding and Voter Representation Topics 
April 5, 2023 
Page 22 
 

BSRAD Infrastructure Investment Funding and Voter Representation legal memo (4.5.2023)/6670.000.0004 
 
 

carrying into effect the provisions of this title.”  See MCA § 7-5-4101.   The city or town council 

also has the specific power of condemnation (MCA § 7-5-4106) and is authorized to create 

special districts (MCA § 7-11-1003), and multijurisdictional service districts (MCA § 7-11-

1102).  A municipality may also create weed control districts, provide utility services, 

transportation services, housing districts, parks and recreational facilities, regulate certain 

businesses and mandate certain licensing requirements, regulate and protect domestic animals, 

provide for emergency and protective services, establish and maintain detention centers, and 

provide ambulance service.  See generally, MCA Title 7, Chapters 5-35. This list is not intended 

to be an exhaustive list, but illustrative only. 

Some required services will be dependent upon the size of the municipality.  

Classifications of municipalities are found in MCA § 7-1-4111 and are generally as follows: (a) 

First class cities have a population of more than 10,000; (b) second class cities have a population 

of between 5,000 and 10,000; (c) third class cities have a population of between 1,000 and 5,000; 

and (d) towns have a population of between 300 and 1,000.  For purposes of this memo, we will 

assume any municipality created in the Big Sky will be classified as a third-class city1.   

All municipalities will have perpetual succession.  See MCA § 7-1-4102.  All must have 

a post office or contract postal unit.  See MCA 7§ -2-4101(2)(b).  All municipalities are required 

to have a police department.  MCA § 7-32-4101.  All municipalities are required to provide fire 

protection, but a third-class city may provide it through contract, through consolidation with 

 
1 This memo does not address issues related to the size of a city or any per capita or density 
requirements under the current statutes.  It is possible that to have an effectively sized city in 
the Big Sky area, some of these statutory requirements may need to be amended by the State 
Legislature.   

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 31 of 55



Memo to Daniel Bierschwale 
RE:  Infrastructure Investment, Funding and Voter Representation Topics 
April 5, 2023 
Page 23 
 

BSRAD Infrastructure Investment Funding and Voter Representation legal memo (4.5.2023)/6670.000.0004 
 
 

another fire protection provider, or through inclusion in a rural fire district.  MCA § 7-33-

4101(1) and 2(c).   

All new municipalities must have certain officers.  See MCA § 7-2-4107.  A third-class 

city must have a mayor, a city judge, and two city council members for each city ward.  See 

MCA § 7-4-4102(1).  The city judge may be filled by appointment of the governing body, or by 

vote of the electorate, or the governing body may request that the justice of the peace or city 

judge of another jurisdiction serve as the city judge.  See MCA § 7-4-4102(3).  A third-class city 

mayor, with the advice of the city council, may also appoint a city attorney, a city clerk, city 

assessor, city treasure, chief of police or other officers deemed necessary to administer the city 

government duties.  See MCA § 7-4-4102(4).  If a third-class city does not have its own city 

attorney, it may contract with the county attorney (using an interlocal agreement) to provide 

legal services for the city.  MCA § 7-4-4606. 

9. Are there any special considerations related to zoning, or changes to existing 
zoning, which a newly formed municipality may wish to make following its 
incorporation?   

 
This is a fact intensive question, and broad question, which may produce different 

answers based on the actual facts presented.  Therefore, this answer will strive to provide a very 

high-level and general discussion, with the understanding that any zoning question would need to 

be further researched once the scope of the zoning, or the scope of the change in zoning, and the 

affected properties is specifically identified.   

While a municipality has the ability to engage in certain zoning (see MCA § 76-2-301), 

so too does a County (see, MCA 7§ 6-2-201).  A municipality may have a more limited zoning 

authority than does a county.  Compare, MCA § 76-2-301 et seq. to MCA § 76-2-201 et seq.  In 

addition, if a property owner is engaged in a use on his or her property consistent with existing 

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 32 of 55



Memo to Daniel Bierschwale 
RE:  Infrastructure Investment, Funding and Voter Representation Topics 
April 5, 2023 
Page 24 
 

BSRAD Infrastructure Investment Funding and Voter Representation legal memo (4.5.2023)/6670.000.0004 
 
 

zoning requirements, but then the zoning changes which would impact, alter or eliminate that 

use, the landowner may nonetheless be permitted to continue to engage in that use despite the 

change in zoning.  See MCA § 76-2-105 and 208.  Specifically, MCA § 76-2-208 states: “Any 

lawful use which is made of land or buildings at the time any zoning resolution is adopted by the 

board of county commissioners may be continued although such use does not conform to the 

provisions of such resolution.”     

The Montana Supreme Court has had the occasion to address these statutes and the 

changes in zoning in several cases.  See, e.g. Egan Sough Community v. Flathead County, 222 

MT 57, 506 P.3d, 996 (2022), Russell v. Flathead County, 2003 MT 8, 67 P.3d 182 (2003).  The 

Court has held that when considering whether a use engaged in at the time of the zoning change 

may continue as a permissible non-conforming use, the use of the property immediately before 

the zoning change must be examined.  Russell v. Flathead County, at ¶ 38 (holding current 

owner’s use of the property differed significantly enough from the prior owner’s use to preclude 

the current owner from the benefit of the permissible non-confirming use statutes enjoyed by the 

previous owner).  The Court also held that MCA § 76-2-208 “contemplates continuation of the 

status quo.  … mean[ing] simply that a pre-existing use may be maintained.”  Id. at ¶ 42.  

However, if following a zoning change, the pre-existing use is changed or expanded beyond 

what was permitted at the time the new zoning was enacted, such change in use will not be 

permissible. See, generally, Egan Sough Community, ¶¶ 22-28 (holding use that was lawful when 

zoning was implemented may continue but a change or expansion of that use beyond what the 

permits held at the time of the zoning change specifically authorized may not). 

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 33 of 55



Memo to Daniel Bierschwale 
RE:  Infrastructure Investment, Funding and Voter Representation Topics 
April 5, 2023 
Page 25 
 

BSRAD Infrastructure Investment Funding and Voter Representation legal memo (4.5.2023)/6670.000.0004 
 
 

Therefore, while a newly formed municipality may be able to change certain zoning 

within the city, landowners who had been engaged in a use permitted prior to the zoning change, 

may be permitted to continue that use after the zoning change in certain circumstances. 

10. Can a municipality, formed within a Resort Area District but which does not 
have identical boundaries to the Resort Area District, be designated as a 
Resort Community? If so, can it also impose a new, separate Resort Tax 
from the one imposed by the surrounding Resort Area District? 

 
As noted above, a municipality can be formed within the boundaries of a Resort Area 

District.  That municipality can have the same boundaries as the Resort Area District but may 

also have boundaries that differ from those of the Resort Area District.   

Whether a municipality could be incorporated within a Resort Area District and also be 

designated as a Resort Community within the Resort Area District, is neither addressed in statute 

nor in the above referenced Attorney General Opinion.  Further, whether a Resort Community 

designated within a Resort Area District, could then impose its own Resort Tax in addition to the 

Resort Tax already imposed by the surrounding Resort Area District, is not addressed in statute 

or in the above referenced Attorney General opinion.  In fact, then-Attorney General Steve 

Bullock specifically declined to answer those questions, as he believed them to be purely 

hypothetical at the time posed.  He did note that the Legislature provided no guidance for that 

complex situation in the statutes.  He also noted that a municipality can also raise revenues 

through property taxes; and therefore he did not want to speculate whether a Resort Community 

inside a Resort Area District that already has a Resort Tax, would need or want to impose a 

second Resort Tax in addition to the first Resort Tax plus any property taxes already charged by 

the municipality.  See 53 Mont AG Opinion 1, dated April 7, 2009, ¶10. 

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 34 of 55



Memo to Daniel Bierschwale 
RE:  Infrastructure Investment, Funding and Voter Representation Topics 
April 5, 2023 
Page 26 
 

BSRAD Infrastructure Investment Funding and Voter Representation legal memo (4.5.2023)/6670.000.0004 
 
 

Moreover, it should be noted that in 2019, when the Montana Legislature authorized the 

imposition of the 1% Infrastructure Tax, it placed certain limitations on Resort Communities 

with respect to that tax.  A Resort Community (wherever it is located) with a population of more 

than 5,500 people, is prohibited from imposing the 1% Infrastructure Tax even if the qualified 

electorate wants such a tax.  See MCA § 7-6-1503(1)(b)(ii).  A Resort Area District does not 

have these same limitations, and upon approval of the qualified electorate, can impose both the 

3% Resort Tax plus the 1% Infrastructure Tax.  See generally, MCA § 7-6-1503(1)(a) and (b). 

11. Will the creation of a municipality impact the collection of county taxes? 

Following the formation of a municipality, the County will continue to levy, collect and 

spend taxes from property within the municipality until the municipality imposes and collects its 

own levy for maintenance of the property for which the county mill is imposed.  See MCA § 15-

18-420.  Once the municipality provides services and County services are no longer required, 

then there might be a decrease in county mill levies charged within the municipality.  But, 

without more information, we cannot provide definitive guidance as it will depend on the type of 

service offered by the municipality, and whether that service so offered would in turn eliminate 

or change a service previously provided by the County.  Therefore, residents of the municipality 

may see a “tax shift” (from county taxes to city taxes) for certain services, but perhaps not a 

reduction or elimination of taxes.  Also, it should be noted that there is no process for a rebate or 

refund of any portion of taxes previously collected by the County to the taxpayer or to the 

municipality.     

12. Can municipal boundaries cross county boundaries? 

We found nothing in Montana statutes that specifically prevents incorporation of a city 

across county boundaries; and indeed there is now a Montana Attorney General opinion holding 

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 35 of 55



Memo to Daniel Bierschwale 
RE:  Infrastructure Investment, Funding and Voter Representation Topics 
April 5, 2023 
Page 27 
 

BSRAD Infrastructure Investment Funding and Voter Representation legal memo (4.5.2023)/6670.000.0004 
 
 

that municipalities are permitted to annex property across county boundaries as noted in response 

to the next question in this memo.  (See 51 Atty Gen Opinion No. 18, issued September 21, 

2006.)  The key statute for municipal incorporation is MCA § 7-2-4101, which states: 

“Whenever the inhabitants of any part of a county desire to organize as a city or town, the 

inhabitants may apply by petition … to the board of county commissioners of the county in 

which the proposed area is situated.”  This section does not prohibit cross-county boundary 

cities.  However, such a proposed city would be required to petition each set of county 

Commissioners and elections would be required in each county.  See MCA § 7-2-4104.  

Registered electors residing in each territory in each county would be required to approve.  If 

electors in one county approved, but electors in the other county rejected the proposal, then the 

proposed cross-boundary city would fail.  Because there is Attorney General authority for city 

annexation cross-county boundaries, it may be more feasible to create the municipality in one 

county, and then in a subsequent petition and election, annex the desired property in the adjacent 

county after the city is incorporated in the first county, rather than to conduct simultaneous city 

incorporation elections in two counties.   

13. Can a municipality, formed in one county annex property in an adjacent 
county into the municipality? 

 
Yes.  In September 2006, then Attorney General Mike McGrath (now, Chief Justice of 

the Montana Supreme Court) determined that a municipality located in one county may annex 

property in a neighboring county without seeking or getting approval from that neighboring 

county.  See 51 Atty Gen Opinion No. 18, issued September 21, 2006.  The Attorney General 

determined “the role established by the legislature for county government in the creation of a 

new municipality is a procedural one, not a substantive one.”  Montana’s statutes “do not give 

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 36 of 55



Memo to Daniel Bierschwale 
RE:  Infrastructure Investment, Funding and Voter Representation Topics 
April 5, 2023 
Page 28 
 

BSRAD Infrastructure Investment Funding and Voter Representation legal memo (4.5.2023)/6670.000.0004 
 
 

the county government any authority to approve or deny the petition for incorporation.”    

Further, he found the municipal annexation provisions “do not extend authority to county 

governments to approve or deny a proposed annexation.”  See 51 Atty Gen Opinion No. 18, 

page 2. 

Specifically, the Attorney General concluded “the permission of the county in which a 

municipality was originally incorporated is not required before a municipality may annex 

additional territory within that county.” He also concluded that in the absence of specific 

statutes to the contrary, “the neighboring county’s approval is not required” even if the 

annexation crosses over county boundaries. Id. However, such annexation into a city will not 

alter the existing county boundaries or impair powers statutorily granted to each county 

government.  Id. Therefore, the City of Helena (located within Lewis and Clark County) was 

permitted to annex into the City properly located in adjacent Jefferson County.  However, the 

county boundaries remained unchanged, and certain City of Helena residents would remain 

residents of Jefferson County, and certain City of Helena residents would remain residents of 

Lewis and Clark County.   

Concluding that cross-county annexation is permitted by Montana law and is not 

depended upon county approval, the Attorney General noted: 

“The annexation provisions, particularly thoughts found in part 47, express the 
legislature’s desire to ensure sound urban development and an acknowledgement that 
municipalities are created ‘for the protection of health, safety, and welfare in areas being 
intensively used for residential, commercial, industrial, institutional, and governmental 
purpose or in areas undergoing such development, and future annexations must consider 
these principals.’  Mont. Code Ann. § 7-2-4703(2).  The legislature’s ultimate objective 
was to create standards for annexation in order to ensure the high quality of services 
needed for public health, safety and welfare.  Mont. Code Ann. § 7-2-4703(3). … Had 
the legislature intended to require county approval for municipal annexation, it would 

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 37 of 55



Memo to Daniel Bierschwale 
RE:  Infrastructure Investment, Funding and Voter Representation Topics 
April 5, 2023 
Page 29 
 

BSRAD Infrastructure Investment Funding and Voter Representation legal memo (4.5.2023)/6670.000.0004 
 
 

have reflected its intent in statute.  However, there is nothing in the plain language of 
the relevant statutes that indicates the legislature intended to require county approval for 
municipal annexation.”   
 

See 51 Atty Gen Opinion No. 18, page 2-3.  The legislature has not yet seen fit to change the 

statutory language in the 17 years since this opinion was issued, and there are no Montana 

Supreme Court decisions to the contrary. 

14. If the residents desire greater governmental representation but do not want 
to incorporate, is it possible to alter the number of County Commissioners of 
a county to ensure better representation for District residents? 

 
The number of commissioners can be altered as approved by the voters.  Counties must 

have a minimum of three Commissioners, though may have more.  MCA § 7-3-223.  The size is 

determined when the form of government is first adopted by the voters, but may be changed by 

altering the existing form of government to permit additional commissioners.  MCA § 7-3-

123. (Changing the number of commissioners occurred as recently as 2016 when a Ravalli 

County Study Commission recommended reducing the number of commissioners in that 

County from 5 to 3. That recommendation was passed and adopted by the Ravalli County 

electors in a 2016 election.) 

There are three primary methods for getting the question of whether to change the 

number of Commissioners (which is technically called the alteration of the form of county 

government) on the ballot:   

 By petition (MCA § 7-3-123 and 7-3-149(1)(a)). To alter by Petition, 

there must be a petition containing signatures for 15% of the electors of that government unit. 

The petition must contain certain notices and satisfy certain process requirements. MCA § 7-3-

125, 141 through 148.  

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 38 of 55



Memo to Daniel Bierschwale 
RE:  Infrastructure Investment, Funding and Voter Representation Topics 
April 5, 2023 
Page 30 
 

BSRAD Infrastructure Investment Funding and Voter Representation legal memo (4.5.2023)/6670.000.0004 
 
 

 By adoption of a local government ordinance pursuant to MCA §7-3-

103;  

 By recommendation from a Study Commission pursuant to MCA § 7-3-

192.  (MCA § 7-3-149(1)(c)).  A study commission can only be created by a vote of the county 

electorate. MCA § 7-3-173. The question of a Study Commission can appear on the ballot 

through (a) the electors by petition (15% signature threshold); (b) vote of the existing county 

commission; (c) automatically every 10 years. Mont. Const. Art. XI, § 9(2) and MCA § 7-3-

173.  The study commission can recommend a change in the form of government which would 

then appear on the ballot to be voted on by the electors. MCA § 7-3-171 through 193. 

  

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 39 of 55



Memo to Daniel Bierschwale 
RE:  Infrastructure Investment, Funding and Voter Representation Topics 
April 5, 2023 
Page 31 
 

BSRAD Infrastructure Investment Funding and Voter Representation legal memo (4.5.2023)/6670.000.0004 
 
 

SECTION IV: County Boundary Topics 

15. May County boundaries be adjusted for public safety purposes? 
 
Yes, existing county boundaries may also be altered for reasons of improving public 

safety.  See MCA§  7-2-2801.  In this case, the petition must be signed by “at least 25 or a 

majority of” those who own real property in the area that is proposed to become part of the 

adjoining county for public safety reasons, whichever number is” and must be submitted to the 

county clerks of the adjoining counties for which the boundary changes are proposed.  The 

County Commissioners in each affected adjoining county shall provide notice of the proposed 

change and shall hold a public hearing in the area proposed to be moved from one county to 

another.  After the public hearing, the boards of county commissioners shall either accept, reject, 

or amend the boundary as proposed in the petition.  MCA § 7-2-2803(1).  Both county 

commission boards must agree on the action to be taken in response to the petition.  If they 

cannot agree, the petitions cannot initiate a new petition requesting a boundary change for a one-

year period.  MCA § 7-2-2803(3).  The two adjoining counties must then enter into an interlocal 

agreement related to the action taken.  MCA § 7-2-2803(2).  Once an interlocal agreement is 

executed, a public hearing in the territory to be moved will be held related to the costs for 

moving the territory and complying with the interlocal agreement.  And following this public 

hearing, an election will be held for the purpose of determining whether or not to change the 

boundaries of the adjoining counties.  MCA § 7-2-2804(1).   

All registered electors of each of the adjoining counties are entitled to vote.  MCA § 7-2-

2804(2).  If more than 50% of the votes case in each adjoining county approve the proposed 

boundary change, then the boundary shall be changed as of January 1 of the year that begins at 

least 13 months after the date of the election.  MCA § 7-2-2806.  However, relocation of the 

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 40 of 55



Memo to Daniel Bierschwale 
RE:  Infrastructure Investment, Funding and Voter Representation Topics 
April 5, 2023 
Page 32 
 

BSRAD Infrastructure Investment Funding and Voter Representation legal memo (4.5.2023)/6670.000.0004 
 
 

county boundaries for public safety purposes will not affect school district boundaries or the 

operation of a school district.  MCA § 7-2-2809. 

16. Can one county annex property into it from an adjacent county? 

In the same Attorney General Opinion noted in response to question number 14 above, 

the Attorney General specifically noted: “Absent specific statutory language to the contrary, it 

logically follows that the neighboring county’s approval is not required if the annexation crosses 

over county boundaries to annex territory in a neighboring county.”  While that opinion 

specifically addressed the ability of a city in one county to annex property located in an adjacent 

county without the approval of the adjacent county’s government, the quoted language is not 

limited to city annexations, and instead describes county annexations as well.  There are no 

statutes prohibiting one county from annexing territory from another county.  However, in that 

instance, MCA § 7-2-2201(2) would apply, and since the result of the annexation would be to 

enlarge one existing county with territory from another, a new county would be formed.  

Therefore, compliance with Title 7, Part 2, Chapter 22 would be required.   

17. Can a wholly new county be formed from two existing counties?2 

Yes, it is possible to create a wholly new county from portions of one or more existing 

counties.  MCA § 7-2-2201(1).  In addition, one existing county, may increase its size by the 

addition of territory taken from one or more other counties, which will create one new county of 

 
2 This memo does not address the likelihood of success of any of the required votes described 
below, or whether any county boundary change that requires a vote of an entire county’s 
population to agree is a realistic possibility.  Because any such vote would require citizens to 
agree that property which currently contributes to its tax base be allowed to leave in favor of 
joining a separate tax base, the likelihood of such an affirmative vote is subject to question.  
Legislative change may be necessary to feasibly accomplish the results, despite that the statutes 
currently allow for certain changes to county boundaries.  

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 41 of 55



Memo to Daniel Bierschwale 
RE:  Infrastructure Investment, Funding and Voter Representation Topics 
April 5, 2023 
Page 33 
 

BSRAD Infrastructure Investment Funding and Voter Representation legal memo (4.5.2023)/6670.000.0004 
 
 

enlarged size.  MCA § 7-2-2201(2). Any new county must contain property of at least 

$10,000,000, and the creation of the new county must not result in a reduction in property value 

of any county to less than $12,000,000.  MCA § 7-2-2202(1) and (2). A new county must be not 

less than 250 square miles of surveyed land.  MCA § 7-2-2202(5).   The creation of any new 

county may not result in any existing county being reduced in size to fewer than 500 square 

miles of surveyed land, and no territory may be taken from one county and added to another 

unless its surveyed size is greater than 49 square miles. MCA § 7-2-2202(3) and (4).   

When a new county is proposed with territory from one county, a petition to create the 

new county must be presented to the county commissioners from the existing county, and it must 

be signed by at least 50% of the registered electors of the proposed new county. MCA § 7-2-

2205(1) and (2)(a).    

If a new county is proposed with territory from more than one county, then the petition is 

presented to the county commissioners of the county from which the largest area of territory will 

be taken.  However, the petition must be signed by 50% of the registered electors in each 

territory to be taken from each county. MCA § 7-2-2205(1), (2)(b), and (2)(c).   

MCA § 7-2-2215 describes when and where an election will be held for the purpose of 

determining whether the territory proposed to be taken from the county is to be established and 

organized into a new or enlarged county, for the election of officers, and for the location of a 

county seat.  This statute is not the model of clarity, and the location(s) of elections depends on 

how the county will be created.   

If a new county is created by separating territory from only one county to create the new 

county (for example, a portion of Gallatin County is carved off from its existing county to create 

the new county), then the petition to create the new county must be presented to the Gallatin 

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 42 of 55



Memo to Daniel Bierschwale 
RE:  Infrastructure Investment, Funding and Voter Representation Topics 
April 5, 2023 
Page 34 
 

BSRAD Infrastructure Investment Funding and Voter Representation legal memo (4.5.2023)/6670.000.0004 
 
 

County Commissioners, and it must be signed by at least 50% of the registered electors in the 

territory that will form the new county.  However, all registered electors in Gallatin County are 

entitled to vote.     

If a new county is created by taking territory from two counties to create the new county 

(for example, a portion of Gallatin County is carved off from its existing county and a portion of 

Madison County is carved off from its existing county, with the combination creating the new 

county), then the petition is presented to the county commissioners of the county from which the 

largest area of territory will be taken.  However, the petition must be signed by 50% of the 

registered electors in each territory to be taken from each county. MCA § 7-2-2205(1), (2)(b), 

and (2)(c).  MCA § 7-2-2215 is not clear as to whether elections must be held in each county, or 

only in the county from which the largest territory will be taken.  In whichever county holds the 

election, all registered electors are entitled to vote.   

If a new county is created by taking territory from one county to enlarge another existing 

count (for example, a portion of Madison County is taken in order to enlarge Gallatin County), 

then then the petition is presented to the county commissioners of the county from which the 

largest area of territory will be taken but elections may be required in both counties.   

Finally, it should be noted that the Montana code also describes how tax liabilities will 

be allocated to counties following a change of county boundaries.  MCA § 7-2-2102(1) states: 

“Every county which shall be enlarged or created from the territory taken from any other 

county or counties shall: (a) be liable for a pro rata proportion of the existing debts and 

liabilities of the county or counties from which such territory shall be taken; and (b) be entitled 

to a pro rata proportion of the assets of the county or counties from which such territory is 

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 43 of 55



Memo to Daniel Bierschwale 
RE:  Infrastructure Investment, Funding and Voter Representation Topics 
April 5, 2023 
Page 35 
 

BSRAD Infrastructure Investment Funding and Voter Representation legal memo (4.5.2023)/6670.000.0004 
 
 

taken.” MCA § 7-2-2102(1).  The share of liabilities and assets shall be determined as provided 

by 7-2-2204 and 7-2-2244 through 7-2-2246.” MCA §7-2-2102(2). 

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 44 of 55



FY24 APPLICATION UPDATE 

Upcoming Key Dates: 

• Wednesday, April 19th-Board review of applica�ons begins.
• Wednesday, May 10th-Ques�ons from Board due to staff.
• Friday, May 12th-District ques�ons shared with applicants.
• Thursday, May 25th-Applicant responses due to staff.
• Monday, June 5th-Applica�on Review Mee�ng

o Arts & Educa�on
o Economic Development
o Housing
o Public Works

• Tuesday, June 6th-Applica�on Review Mee�ng
o Health & Safety
o Recrea�on & Conserva�on

• Thursday, June 8th-Applica�on Review Mee�ng
o Final ra�fica�on of decisions for all Impact Areas

Request Updates: 

There have been a few changes in the number of projects being requested and the total request amount 
since the LOI deadline of February 15th. The informa�on in the applica�on review binders is accurate as 
of April 18th, any future request reduc�ons or project removals will be communicated with the public 
and the board at future mee�ngs (May 3rd, June 5, 6th & 8th). Printed materials will NOT be updated to 
reflect reduc�ons or removals.  

• Original Request as of 2/15/23: 54 Projects from 21 Sponsors totaling $11,094,535
• Updated Request as of 4/4/23 52 Projects from 20 Sponsors totaling $11,044,535.

o As directed by staff, Big Sky Discovery Academy combined two of their projects into one
request, as both projects were related to early childhood programming and scholarships.
This change did not modify their total request amount.

o As directed by staff, Morningstar Learning Center combined two of their projects into
one request, as both projects were related to early childhood programming and
scholarships. This change did not modify their total request amount.

o As directed by staff, Big Sky SNO broke one of their projects into two requests. This
change did not modify their total request amount.

o Big Sky Local Governance did not complete and submit its project applica�on by the
March 31st deadline, and it is no longer eligible for further review. This change reduces
the overall FY24 request amount by $50,000.

I.D.2.a. FY24 Application Update Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 45 of 55



REVENUES FY23 Budget FY23 Forecast FY24 Budget FY25 Budget FY26 Budget
3% Collections 13,606,014 15,618,484 16,977,282                 17,926,157 18,360,941 
1% Collections 4,535,338 5,558,708 6,042,316 6,344,431 6,534,764 

Investment Income 2,575 200,000 400,000 500,000 600,000 

TOTAL 18,143,927$       21,377,192$      23,419,598$      24,770,588$       25,495,705$      
EXPENSES

Bad Debt (60000) 500 500 500 500 500 
Bank Charges (60010) 60 30 60 60 60 

Dues & Meeting Expenses (60080) 50,000 25,000 50,935 55,926 60,743 
Public Information (60090) 130,000 130,000 156,500 170,116 184,916 

Facilities (61000) 15,018 15,018 16,300 17,718 19,260 
Insurance (62000) 7,367 7,367 7,532 8,187 8,899 

Office Expenses (63000) 71,836 71,836 93,264 101,335 110,107 
Professional Fees (64000) 241,390 241,390 407,338 316,241 275,919 

Travel (65000) 5,045 1,000 5,179 5,630 6,120 
Utilities (66000) 7,209 7,209 9,205 10,006 10,876 

Personnel Expenses (67000) 675,000 675,000 733,312 797,110 866,459 
Debt Service (68000) 17,926 17,926 - - - 

Capital Expenditures (69000) - 10,473 - - - 
BSRAD OPERATING EXPENSES 1,221,351 1,202,749 1,480,125 1,482,829 1,543,859 

BSRAD Admin % 6.7% 6.3% 6.0% 6.1%
Forecasted 3% Requests (Non-Government) 8,765,234 11,094,535                 12,454,554 9,546,446 

Committed Interlocal Funding (Government) - 3,161,277 3,500,000 4,000,000 
1% for Infrastructure (Canyon Pipe & 

Prepayment Not Included) 2,852,719 2,995,335 3,145,122 3,302,379 
 Reserve Allocation 1,820,546 2,011,768 1,011,927 

TOTAL 12,839,304$       20,551,818$      22,594,273$       19,404,611$      

FY23 Forecast FY24 Budget FY25 Budget FY26 Budget
Operating Reserve Goal 329,017 340,785 352,712 

Emergency Reserve Goal 1,500,000 2,500,000 2,500,000 
Capital Reserve Goal 3,000,000 4,000,000 5,000,000 

Reserve Commitment 1,820,546 2,011,768 1,011,927 
Reserve Goal 3,008,471 4,829,017 6,840,785 7,852,712 

I.D.2.b. FY24 Operating Budget Draft Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 46 of 55



2023 BUSINESS 
REGISTRATION  

DATA OVERVIEW
All businesses operating in the Big Sky 

Resort Area District are required to 
register. The following overview of the data 

collected from the 2023 registrations is 
complete as of March 28th, 2023.

Employee Data

7,233
Employees working within BSRAD

4,235
Seasonal employees

3,703
Employees living within BSRAD

Registered Businesses

1,017

Short-Term Rental
(Owner Managed)  - 32%

Retail - 16%

Professional 
Services - 9%

Restaurant/Bar/ 
Food Vendor/ Caterer - 8%

 - 5%Club or HOA

 - 5%Construction

Property 
Management - 5%

 - 4%Nonprofit

 - 3%Real Estate Sales & 
Development

 - 2%Liquor License

 - 2%
Property 
Maintenance

 - 2%Recreational  
Service/Activity

 - 1%Event
 - 1%Hotel /Lodge/Resort

 - 1%Spa/Fitness
 - 1%Wholesale Supplier

 - 1%Other
 - <1%Utilities

R
e

g
iste

re
d

 B
u

sin
e

sse
s b

y S
e

cto
r

I.D.2.c. 2023 Business Registration Data Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 47 of 55



Biggest Challenge for Businesses in Big Sky
(494 Responses)

Staffing & Housing
31%

Lack of 3rd Party 
Contractors

14%

Weather, Traffic, 
& Transportation

15%

No Challenges
10%

Cost of Living/
Doing Business

8%

Business 
Registration 

& Taxes
4%

Other
3%

Seasonality 
&

 Customers
6%

Business 
Logistics

7%

Gallatin Madison Total

Professionally Managed Properties 253 687 940
Owner-Managed Properties 167 160 327

Total 420 847 1267

Total Short-Term Rentals  
by County

Madison 
67%

Gallatin
33%

1,267
Short-Term Vacation Rentals 

Short-Term Rental Data

I.D.2.c. 2023 Business Registration Data Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 48 of 55



1 

JOINT REQUEST OF  
Big Sky County Water and Sewer District No. 363, Montana and  
Gallatin Canyon County Water and Sewer District, Montana for  

Award of Resort Tax Revenues for  
Joint Feasibility Assessment of the Canyon Water and Sewer Project 

THIS JOINT REQUEST is made this 31st day of March, 2023, by the Big Sky County 
Water and Sewer District No. 363, Montana (“BSWSD”) and the Gallatin Canyon County 
Water and Sewer District (“GCWSD”) to the Big Sky Resort Area District (“District”) for an 
award of resort tax revenues not to exceed $400,000 to be used to determine the overall 
feasibility of the construction of the Canyon Sewer Project (as defined below) to be 
allocated by the District to BSWSD and GCWSD as set forth below (“Joint Request”). 

The parties believe a determination of feasibility of the overall Canyon Sewer Project 
by the Boards for both the BSWSD and GCWSD is critical before any BSRAD funds 
previously allocated to either District’s portion of the Project are expended. This Joint 
Request is made because neither portion may proceed to construction if the other  portion is 
deemed infeasible. 

For purposes of this Joint Request, the Canyon Sewer Project is described as 
containing two parts: 

Part 1 is the construction of two lift stations, the first near the intersection of 
U.S. Route 191 and Highway 64 and a second approximately half the distance 
between the intersection and BSWSD’s water resource recovery facility (the 
“WRRF”), a wastewater forcemain up the Highway 64 corridor to the WRRF, and a 
pipeline conveying treated effluent back to the Canyon Area (collectively, the 
“Highway 64 Project”). If constructed, the Highway 64 Project assets will be owned 
by BSWSD.  Consistent with the directive of the voters on May 5, 2020, the District 
has previously allocated up to $12,000,000 from the Infrastructure Resort Tax 
collections for the Highway 191 Project (the “District Highway 64 Contribution.”) 

Part 2 is the construction of up to five miles of sewer collection main along the 
Highway 191 corridor and the immediately adjacent developments which will convey 
wastewater to the interconnection with the Highway 64 Project and re-convey treated 
effluent from the interconnection with the Highway 64 Project to a disposal and reuse 
main and the associated groundwater discharge infrastructure to be constructed 
along the Highway 191 corridor (collectively, the “Highway 191 Project”).  If 
constructed the Highway 191 Project assets will be owned by GCWSD.   

Collectively, the Highway 64 Project and the Highway 191 Project are defined 
in this Joint Request as the “Canyon Sewer Project.”  While the Canyon Sewer 
Project is described as consisting of two parts, the parties agree the two parts are 
not separable; in other words, neither the Highway 64 Project nor the Highway 191 
Project will proceed if the other is not also deemed feasible.  Further, each the 
Highway 64 Project and the Highway 191 Project may proceed simultaneously or on 
parallel or overlapping tracts or timetables if/when both are determined to be 
feasible.   

.D.2.d. Canyon Pipeline Feasibility Request 
1 of 4

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 49 of 55



2 
 

While some work related to the feasibility of the Canyon Sewer Project has been 
completed, more work is required, and neither BSWSD nor GCWSD has the funding 
necessary to retain the professional services needed to complete the final feasibility 
assessment needed for the Boards of each BSWSD and GCWSD to advance the project 
using the previously allocated $12,000,000 based on the current terms specified in the 
interlocal agreement.   
 
 The feasibility work that has been completed is: 
   
Work Description Requested By: Professional That 

Completed Work 
Date Completed 

Canyon Sewer 
Feasibility Study 

Gallatin River Task 
Force 

WGM/AE2S May 2020 

Canyon Sewer 
Preliminary 
Engineering Report 

BSWSD  WGM/AE2S July 2021 

Canyon Septic 
Inventory & 
Collection 
Prioritization Study 

Gallatin River Task 
Force, GCWSD 

WGM September 2022 

    
 
 The feasibility work that still needs to be completed is: 
 
Work Still Needed Work Requested By 

BSWSD or GCWSD 
Date Work To Be 
Completed  

Preliminary Non-
Degradation & Human 
Health Assessment Report 

GCWSD June 2023 

2023 Groundwater Data 
Collection  

GCWSD October 2023 
 

Groundwater Discharge 
Capacity Projection and 
Phasing Plan 
(discharge feasibility) 

GCWSD November 2023 

DEQ data/studies review 
and correspondence 
(regulatory feasibility) 

GCWSD January 2024 

Right-of-way and Lift Station 
Easement Agreement(s) 
(access feasibility) 

BCWSD January 2024 

Connection Fee & Rate 
Study  
(economic feasibility) 

GCWSD January 2024 

Preliminary Funding 
Package  
(economic feasibility) 

GCWSD/BCWSD January 2024 

.D.2.d. Canyon Pipeline Feasibility Request 
2 of 4

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 50 of 55



3 
 

Treatment / Disposal 
Service Agreement 

GCWSD/BCWSD January 2024 
 

   
 
 Once all of the feasibility work is completed, the BSWSD Board and the GCWSD 
Board must both make a determination that their respective portions of the Canyon Sewer 
Project are feasible, before any portion of the Canyon Sewer Project may move forward.  
The feasibility determination shall be made by each Board not later than 45 days following 
receipt of the last work to be completed.   
 
 
 
 
 
 

[Request on Following Page] 
 
 
/// 
 
/// 
  

.D.2.d. Canyon Pipeline Feasibility Request 
3 of 4

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 51 of 55



4 
 

 BSWSD and GCWSD therefore make this out-of-cycle request for an award of resort 
tax revenues in the amount described in the below table, for the described feasibility work, 
and allocated to the party noted below: 
 
Work Required Professional 

Engaged 
Estimated Amount 
for Work 

Award Allocated to 
BSWSD or GCWSD 

Preliminary Non-
Degradation & Human 
Health Assessment 
Report 
(discharge feasibility) 

WGM $50,000 GCWSD 

2023 Groundwater Data 
Collection  
(discharge feasibility) 

WGM $100,000 GCWSD 

Groundwater Discharge 
Capacity Projection and 
Phasing Plan 
(discharge feasibility) 

WGM $30,000 GCWSD 

DEQ data/studies 
review and 
correspondence 
(regulatory feasibility) 

WGM $20,000 GCWSD 

Right-of-way and Lift 
Station Easement 
Agreement(s) 
(access feasibility) 

AE2S $50,000 BSWSD 

Connection Fee & Rate 
Study  
(economic feasibility) 

AE2S $50,000 GCWSD 

Treatment / Disposal 
Service Agreement 

WGM/AE2S $20,000 BSWSD/GCWSD 

Preliminary Funding 
Package  
(economic feasibility) 

WGM/AE2S $60,000 BSWSD/GCWSD 

    
 
 
BIG SKY COUNTY WATER AND  GALLATIN COUNTY WATER AND 
SEWER DISTRICT NO. 363:  SEWER DISTRICT 
 
 
 
_________________________   _________________________  
Name: Ron Edwards     Name: Scott Altman 
Title: General Manager    Title: Board President 
 

 

.D.2.d. Canyon Pipeline Feasibility Request 
4 of 4

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 52 of 55



Collective Yellowstone, a retreat in Big Sky, Montana
Project Overview
March 2023

Overview of Collective Retreats
● An outdoor hospitality company that offers destination retreats and

experiences that connect people, community and environment
● In the process of becoming a Certified B Corporation—a leader in the global

movement for an inclusive, equitable, and regenerative economy
● Operated a successful retreat in Moonlight Basin from 2016 to 2018

Collective Yellowstone, a retreat in Big Sky
● Intended to combine adventure hospitality with modern luxury
● Planned on 162 acres off Michener Creek Road, west of U.S. Highway 191 and

south of Lone Mountain Trail, adjacent to The Quarry
● Proposed 100± acres in open space
● Remaining acreage in a clustered layout to preserve open spaces and

viewsheds

Anticipated Structures in Clustered Layout include:
● 90 guest suites (single level buildings, approx. 660 sq ft each)
● An estimated 8,000 sq ft lodge to include dining, concierge, reception area
● On-site workforce housing for up to 20 individuals (and supplemental

workforce lodging located at The Quarry)

I.D.2.e. Collective Retreats Letter of Recognition Request 
Project Overview (1 of 3)

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 53 of 55



Proposed Approach
● Current Zoning: Currently, all 162 acres are zoned Residential Cluster-Single

Family-Five (RC-SF-5), which allows for a minimum of one home per 5 acres or
32 single-family residences and an associated accessory dwelling unit for each
home. If developed, as currently zoned, as a Residential Cluster Development
and a Planned Unit Development an additional 21 units could be added, for a
total of 85 units on the property.

● Proposed Zoning: By changing the zoning, Collective Retreats is looking to
create a clustered layout with an emphasis on open spaces. The proposed
zoning change would dedicate 51 acres to Resort zoning and leave the
remaining 111 acres in RC-SF-5, with the overall goal of having 100± acres
committed to open space.

● Change in Zoning = Additional Resort Tax Funding: Collective Retreats
estimates that changing 51 acres to Resort zoning will provide an annual
$1.0M+ in new resort tax revenues to the Big Sky Resort Area District (BSRAD).

● Open Space and Proposed Trails: The proposed site plan is designed to keep
the majority of the property as open space and maintain viewsheds. Open
space will encircle the Resort zone, providing a buffer between resort
operations and neighboring properties, maintain wildlife corridors and expand
trail opportunities and trail accessibility to the general public. Collective
Retreats is looking to coordinate and connect the existing Big Sky Community
Organization (BSCO) trail system as well as establish some on-property trails.

● Viewsheds: Gallatin County has requirements for viewshed protection via the
designated ridgeline that exists on the property, which requires development
to be setback from the edge of the ridgeline. The locations of buildings will be
approved by the County.

● Water and Sewer: Water will be provided via two to three on-site wells that will
be MDEQ-regulated “public” water system wells. Sewer will be provided by
two to three on-site Level II treatment and drain fields that will be permitted
and approved by the County and MDEQ. Collective Retreats is aware of the
ongoing Gallatin CanyonWater and Sewer District project and anticipates
connecting to central sewer, if available.

● Infrastructure adjacent to the retreat: The Gallatin County-required traffic
analyses are being conducted. Based on the results of those analyses,
upgrades to adjacent roads and/or intersections may be required.

● Emergency evacuation plans: Collective Retreats is evaluating potential
emergency access routes that will need to be approved by the Big Sky Fire
District and Gallatin County and all appropriate parties.

● Wildfire mitigation: Collective Retreats will be an active participant in
mitigating wildfire risk on its property.

I.D.2.e. Collective Retreats Letter of Recognition Request 
Project Overview (2 of 3)

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 54 of 55



● Environmental andWildlife Impacts: An Environmental Assessment will be
completed per the requirements of Gallatin County as part of the permitting,
which will also evaluate wildlife and open space impacts and mitigation.

● Geotechnical Evaluation: A geotechnical evaluation will also be completed.

I.D.2.e. Collective Retreats Letter of Recognition Request 
Project Overview (3 of 3)

Big Sky Resort Area District 
04.18.2023 Board Meeting Packet 

Page 55 of 55


	04.19.2023 Agenda
	I.B. Public Comment - SNO
	I.C.a. 03.08.2023 Meeting Minutes
	I.D.1.a Infrastructure Investment, Funding, and Voter Representation memo 4.6.23
	I.D.1.b Infrastructure Investment, Funding, & Voter Representation Roadmap
	I.D.1.c BSRAD Infrastructure Investment Funding and Voter Representation legal memo
	I.D.2.a. FY24 APPLICATION UPDATE
	I.D.2.b. FY24 Operating Budget Draft 4.3.23
	FY23 Budget

	I.D.2.c. 2023 Business Registration Data
	I.D.2.d. Canyon Pipeline Feasibility Request
	I.D.2.e. Collective Yellowstone - Updated Project Overview - 03.2023



